
UNITED NATIONS 
~~I ~I'~t::~ 

-- ---

~CO Nl t) !Vi~ r\ il..... \...~ j ' • v 

/\ND ·-c; 'A" 6;'cR 1<::'· c_.; ._.V • 0 o j~ 

SOCIAL COUNCIL 
25 May 1954 
ENGLISH 
ORIGINAL: FRENCH 

•llllllil!lllllllllllllllllllill!illlillflllllllillllllllllllillllllllllllllllllllllllllllllli'l:ll'lllllll!illlli•ll,:lllllilloiiii:IIIJII:IIIIIiillll/llilllli•ll,jfj,J/IIllllllll•lllllllillllllllllllllllllilll•lllllllll 1 1/liillilllllllllr :, 

CONTENTS 

54-14026 

Seventeenth Session 

ECONOMIC CO:Ml'HTTEE 

SL~Y RECORD OF TREHJNDRED AND FIFTY-FOURTH MEETING 

Held at Headquarters, Ne~ York, 
on Monday, 26 April 1954, at 2.30 p.m. 

Economic development of under-developed countries: 

(a) Land reform: report by the Secretary-General on the replies of 

Governments to the questionnaire on land reform: report by the 

Secretary-General on agricultural co-operation (E/2526, E/2524; 

E/AC .6/L. 94) 



E/AC.6/SR.l54 
English 
Page 2 

PRESENT: 

Chairman: 

Members: 

Sir Douglas COPLAND (Australia) 

Mr. CAFIERO Argentina 

Mr. PETEERBRIDGE 

Mr. CIFR01J 

Mr. CHEN 

Mr. RIBAS 

Mr. PSCOIKA 

Mr. EL-TANAMLI 

Mr. AVIlES MOSQUFRA 

Mr. LEGATTE 

Mr. MISHRA 

ll;r. SALUESEN 

Mr. TAFAZZAL ALI 

Mr. OZGUREL 

Mr. SPANDARYAN 

Mr. BARNES 

Mr. STREET ) 
Mr. STIBRAVY) 

Mr. AIFONZO-RAVARD 

Mr. ST.ANOVNIK 

Australia 

Belgium 

China 

Cuba 

Czechoslovakia 

Egypt 

Ecuador 

France 

India 

Norway 

Pakistan 

Turkey 

Union of Soviet Socialist Republics 

United Kingdom of Great Britain and 
Northern Ireland 

United States of America 

Venezuela 

Yugoslavia 

Representatives of specialized agencies: 

Mr. ROUX 

Mr. McDOUGALL 

International Labour Organisation 

Food and Agriculture Organization 

Representatives of non-governmental or~anizations: 

Category A: Mrs. LUSARDI International Chamber of Connnerce 

Secretariat: 

Miss KAHN 

Mr. BLOUGH 

Mr. CAUSTIN 

Mr. DUMONTET 

World Federation of Trade Unions 

Principal Director, Department of 
Economic Affairs 

Department of Economic Affairs 

Secretary of the Committee 



j:p/' ,., .• /Q ! -"' AC,b 1 ,,R,l5~ 
English 
:Page 3 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT OF UNDER-DEVELOPED COUNTRIES: (a) lAND REFORM: REPORT . 
BY TEE SECRETARY -GENERAL ON TEE REPLIES OF GOVERNMENTS TO TEE QUESTIONNAIRE 

ON lAND REFORM: REPORT BY THE SECRETARY -GENERAL ON AGRICULTURAL CO-OPERATION 

(E/2526, E/2524, E/AC.6/L.94) 

Mr. MISBRA (India) regretted that his Government had received the two 

reports (E/2526 and E/2524) too late to be able to study them as thoroughly as 

it could have wished. In fact, at first, in view of his Government's great 

interest in the land reform measures and the reorganization of agricultural 

economy, he had wondered whether he could not urge the postponement of the 

consideration of that item until the next session. But on second thoughts, 

to keep up the interest of the Council in the matter and advance action in that 

field, he had felt that he should contribute to the discussions as well as 

he could in the circumstances by focussing attention on some vital considerations. 

With regard to the first report, he was happy to note that the land reform 

measures undertaken by his country had been considered by the Secretariat to be 

most impressive in terms of the numbers and areas affected, but he pointed out 

that the report was no longer up to date and contained no record of the rapid 

changes which had occurred in India. Through the Five Year Plan now in progress, 

India was hoping to complete the first part of a programme designed to abolish 

intermediaries and to reform the system of land tenure; it was hoped to 

reorganize the country's agricultural economy completely during the period of 

the second Five Year Plan. The implementation of such reforms was, however, in 

some cases slowed down by the lack of statistical data. A land survey was 

essential and India hoped to complete it as soon as possible. 

Before deciding on future action, it was necessary to determine whether the 

rate, direction and scope of the changes which had occurred were satisfactory 

and whether they had promoted agricultural development in particular and economic 

development in general. The question therefore arose whether the results 

achieved could be properly assessed on the basis of the information presented in 

the report, with a view to charting a future course of action. 

The report had been drawn up under paragraph 8 of resolution 370 (XIII) 

under which the Council had requested information on progress in land reform, on 

any obstacles to the adoption of proposed measures and any suggestions that 



E/AC.6/SR.l54 
English 
Page 4 

Governments might have concerning international action to promote land reforms; 

it had also requested the Secretary-General to analyse the information received 

and to present conclusions and reconnnendations to the Council. The report 

fulfilled the first three requirements but hardly the fourth. It was stated 

in the preface that the purpose of the questionnaire had been "to make possible 

an assessment of the extent of progress". A little further on came the statement 

that 11 progress, rather than level of ach:levement" was the subject of the report. 

It was difficult to see what was meant by "progress" or the difference between 

"progress" and "level of achievement". That difficulty was increased by the 

later statement that Part III summarized "the major development described in the 

preceding parts" and reviewed "the extent of achievement in relation to the need 

for further measures ... ". The purpose of the report did not seem to be very 

clear. 

The report nevertheless contained much useful information: it gave an idea 

of the reforms which had recently been carried out and provided details which 

were not available in any other document. Furthermore, it must not be forgotten 

that the task of the Secretariat, which l1ad had to deal with sixty countries 

with a total of 1,300 million inhabitants and 2,000 hectares of agricultural 

land, had been far from simple. If the report did not entirely meet the 

requirements of resolution 370 (XIII), it was perhaps because that resolution 

had not been explicit enough and Governments would not have been in a position to 

provide the concrete economic information required. The confusion between 
11 progress" and "the level of achievement 11 was perhaps inevitable in the 

circumstances. 

The time would seem to have come to analyse and interpret the results of 

land reform from the points of view of ernployment, production, income, savings, 

investments, social justice, agricultural development and economic development 

as a whole. In India a plan of enquiries through universities and research 

institutions had been drawn up in consultation with the Research Progrannne 

Committee of the Planning Commission to assess the effects of the reforms 

unde~taken by the State. 



E/AC.6/SR.l54 
English 
Page 5 

He also wished to point out how in India, where the Government had 

established a Central Land Reforms Organization responsible for evaluating the 

results obtained and reporting from time to time upon the operation and progress 

of the measures of land reform, land reform was being considered from the point 

of view of both agricultural production and the various interests which were at 

stake. It was necessary to consider the effects which might be produced by 

each measure. A stage would soon be reached when the slow pace of the industrial 

development of the under-developed countries would constitute a serious obstacle 

to the progress of land reform. In a previous study the United Nations, in 

co-operation with FAO, had made an enquiry into "Defects in Agrarian Structure 

as Obstacles to Economic Development". But in a number of cases it would be 

realized that it was not so much defects in agrarian structure that were obstacles 

to economic development as lagging economic development that was an obstacle to 

some of the urgent reforms in agrarian structure. All land reform measures 

were designed to modify the system of production and distribution. In the 

agricultural sector land reform might result in a release of labour, which, in 

the absence of a corresponding inflow of capital and industrial development 

might have undesirable economic effects. It was therefore necessary to do 

everything possible to ensure that agricultural and industrial development 

proceeded simultaneously. The Indian Five-Year Plan stressed the need to 

develop industry as well as agriculture and the Indian Government hoped that 

action on both fronts would proceed according to plan. 

It might be useful to refer to the great land distribution movement for 

the benefit of landless peasants now under way in India under the leadership of 

Vinoba Bhave, a great disciple of Mahatma Gandhi. It was one of the greatest 

experiments ever made in social revolution, as the movement was based on the 

voluntary relinquishment of land by the people, big and small. Quite apart 

from the quantitative results that might be obtained, there could be no doubt 

that the movement was creating social sanctions and preparing people's minds for 

far-reaching legislative measures and actions. 



E/AC. 6/SR .154 
English 
Page 6 

With regard to the report "Rural Progress through Co-operatives" (E/2524), 

he was pleased to note that it recognized that co-operatives could not exist 

unless the necessary conditions of economic progress, namely the development of 

transport and communications and reform of the land tenure system, were provided. 

In India, the re-organization of the agricultural economy was in the direction of 

co-operative management of villages where land and other resources would be 

considered as a unit. The Indian Government was already taking measures to 

promote the development of co-operatives. 

On the whole the Indian delegation ap~roved the suggestions in the report. 

Several problems relating to co-operatives should, however, be studied in greater 

detail and recommendations concerning them should be made. The draft resolution 

submitted by India and Egypt drew the Committee's attention to two such problems. 

It referred first of all to the various types of help which co-operative societies 

required from Governments in the economic and social field to enable them to 

operate. In the second place, it was necessary to specify the sectors where 

co-operative organization appeared desirable. He urged the Committee to approve 

the joint draft resolution sponsored by the Indian and Egyptian delegations. 

Mr. STANOVNIK (Yugoslavia) said that land reform constituted the most 

vital element in the economic development of the countries considered under-

developed today. Such countries fell into two main categories: those with a 

large population, insufficiently developed industry and rural over-population, 

and those having a backward agriculture but vast land areas that remained 

uncultivated because of the shortage of manpower. The first type predominated 

in Asia and the second in Latin America. Land reform was no less important for 

the former countries than for the latter; the only difference was one of method. 

The initial step in any constructive policy of economic development was a 

more equitable distribution of land in order to achieve three basic objectives: 

maximum ~reductive employment, the maximum level of productivity on the existing 

technical basis, and the social transformation necessary for the modernization of 

agriculture and the industrialization of the country. The Yugoslav delegation had 



EjAC. 6/SR .154 
English 
Page 7 

always maintained that the agrarian problem could not be solved by means of land 

reform alone but that its solution was linked to a policy of integrated economic 

development. If low agricultural productivity in areas with surplus population 

was to be raised by means of a redistribution of land, new employment opportunities 

had to be created; in other words, the country had to be industrialized and unused 

land had to be developed. The agrarian structure was a consequence of century-long 

traditions, geographical conditions, political history and the level of development 

of the national economy. Although it consequently varied a good deal from one 

country to another, the fact that no general pattern or absolute principles 

could be discerned made it possible to take advantage of the vast reservoir of 

experience gained by all countries. In that connexion, the Yugoslav delegation 

wished to congratulate the Secretariat on its extremely useful analysis of the 

replies received from Governments (E/2526) and its study of the problem of 

co-operatives (E/2524). 

Before the war, the agrarian population in Yugoslavia had constituted 76.3 

per cent of the total population while the inccme derived from agriculture had 

represented 50.3 per cent of national income. There had been 102 agricultural 

inhabitants for every 100 hectares (247 acres) of arable land whereas the 

comparative density had been 52 in Germany and 48 in France. Yugoslavia had 

therefore been an overwhelmingly agrarian country in which the agricultural sector 

of the economy had been under-developed, under-productive and over-populated. 

Moreover, the agrarian structure had been very much out of balance. While 

properties up to 5 hectares had constituted 68 per cent of the total number of 

farms and only 28 per cent of the total arable land surface, properties of 10 and 

more hectares, considered large in Yugoslavia, had constituted only 11 per cent 

of the total number of farms while accounting for 44 per cent of the total arable 

land surface. Thirty per cent of the farms had been less than 2 hectares in size, 

or too small to support a family. Furthermore, 39 per cent of the farmers had 

not even had a plough of their own and agrarian indebtedness had been high. 

Immediately after the war, the Government had carried out a far-reaching 

land reform under which the large land-owners had surrendered 1,504,000 hectares, 

or 11 per cent of the total arable land of the country, which had then been 

distributed to agrarian families and the families of "colonists", while part had 

been retained to serve as the basis of State farms. The maximum size of farms had 

been fixed at 30 hectares and later, in 1952, individual ownership of arable land 

had been restricted to 10 hectares. 



E/AC .6jSR.l54 
English 
Page 8 

Thus, the land reform had resulted in the effective elimination of large 

private properties and properties consisting of arable land used for non

agricultural purposes. Side by side with the land reform, extensive 

industrialization of the country had been undertaken by the Government with the 

result that the percentage of the agrarian population had declined from 76.3 to 

61.7 while the share of agriculture in the national income had declined from 

50.5 to approximately 28 per cent in 1953. Although the land reform had 

temporarily solved the problem of agrarian over-population, it had contributed 

only modestly to the introduction of modern techniques in agriculture. In order 

to continue the transformation begun by that reform, an agrarian policy aimed at 

the three following objectives had had to be applied: (a) increasing ~roductivity 

by means of the mechanization of agrieulture, the more extensive use of 

fertilizers and a better selection of land, and therefore intensive investment; 

(b) creating new employment opportunities for the manpower which would become 

available in the agricultural sector as a result of those measures; and 

(c) appropriate planning of social organization to permit the integration of 

small non-economic farms into larger units adaptable to the use of modern 

techniques with due consideration of the need for incentives for individual 

producers. 

The first step had been to industrialize the country in order to increase 

national production and national income to permit in turn the intensification 

of investment in agriculture. Accordingly, in the first post-war years, only 

10 per cent of total investment had been made in agriculture while 62 per cent 

had gone to industry; that was why agricultural production in the post-war 

period had exceeded pre-war figures by only 2 per cent. From the beginning, 

the Yugoslav Governme•t had been fully aware of the difficulties which were 

bound to be created by the temporary concentration of efforts upon 

industrialization. However, it had endeavoured to achieve a simultaneous inerease 

in agricultural productivity, in parti~ular by favouring all kinds of co-operatives 

even though they often did not possess satisfactory economic foundations. Such 

problems had not resulted from an incorrect concept of economic development but 

from the inevitable phenomena that accompanied large-scale investment in industry 

and other circumstances ~uch as pressure from certain neighbouring States, 

droughts, etc • 



E/AC.6/SR,l54 
English 
Page 9 

The initial stage had been passed and agrarian policy had become one of tLe 

chief concerns of his Government. Many of the measures of State control that 

had been unavoidable in that first stage in view of the need to ensure the food 

supply of a growing urban population, were becoming superfluous and even harmful 

to further progress. At the present time his Government was giving every 

encouragement to co-operatives, because it consi::le:.ced. that they might provide a 

means of overcoming the contradictions existing between the fragmentation of 

farms caused by the high density of population and a more productive economy 

based on large-size farms. Although his Government considered a modern 

agricultural economy based on large-scale, properly equipped units a desirable 

objective because of the opportunity it provided of achieving maximum productivit;r, 

it did not think that the fact should be overlooked that farmers needed time to 

assimilate new problems. 

At the end of 1952, co-operatives had ow~ed properties to the extent of 

20 per cent of the total cultivated land area and there were practically no farms 

in Yugoslavia not included in one way or another in some kind of co-operative 

system. In that connexion, he was surprised to note that the report prepared by 

the Secretariat in collaboration with FAO and ILO (E/2524) had given little 

attention to the problem of co-operatives in Yugoslavia. 

Having organized basic industry and established favourable conditions for th: 

automatic growth of the means of production, the Government would continue th:.:: 

process of agricultural transformation, which 1-rould be favoured by the ei'f'ect~, 

of industrial activity on the market, and by the taxation and credtt policies of 

the State. The freeing of agricultural products from administrative restrir:tion:> 

had had the effect of reducing the disproportion between the prices of indu.strjal 

and agricultural products to the extent of 5 per cent in favour of the 

agricultural producer. Moreover, the Government had intensified State investme::·~~ 

in agriculture. In 1954 it would amount to 15.3 thousand million dinars as 

against 6.4 thousand millions in 1953, and to that sum must be added the total 

of individual investments by the peasants themselves, estimated at some 



E I AC. 6 /SR .154 
English 
Page 10 

18 thousand millions. At the same time, the tax policy of the Government aimed 

at protecting the small agricultural producer and co-ordinating the development 

of agriculture with the general economic development of the country. v!ithin 

the limits of the tax system, the agricultural producer could produce and trade 

in complete freedom. That freedom maintained his spirit of initiative while 

national policy sought to ensure the needs of society as a whole. 

In connexion with the report entitled "Progress in Land Reform" (E/2526) the 

Yugoslav delegation felt that analysing Government replies to United Nations 

questionnaires was an extremely useful procedure because it gave a clear insight 

into the practical problems encountered in different countries. It would be 

most desirable if the Council decided to have such studies made at regular 

intervals. His delegation therefore welcomed the suggestion of the Indian 

delegation that measures should be taken to pool and exchange information, ideas 

and experiences. On the other hand, it did not think that the approval of a 

declaration concerning land reform could yield the results expected. It also 

did not consider it practical to create a special fund for land reform as 

suggested by some Governments. The suggestion was in fact only an additional 

argume~t in favour of the proposal to establish a Special United Nations Fund for 

Economic Development. He felt that international resources should be used only 

for the direct promotion of economic development whereas in the case of agrarian 

reform the biggest financial problem was that ~f compensation to dispossess 

landowners. However, much could be done by increasing technical assistance to 

countries engaged in land reform and although his delegation did not think that the 

Haitian Government's suggestion concerning the organization of technical brigades 

was likely to produce the best results, it recognized that the forms in which 

technical assistance was granted should be based on the experience thus far gained 

by the Governments directly intere~ted. 



Miss KAHN (T-Jorld Federation of Trade unions) oaid tLat Gener·~.: ''··'"'' to'.ll-b 

resolution 625 (VII) and resolution 370 (XIII) of the Economic a~ii Socic;,l ~·,u.r,cj: 

laid down a fundamental programme for land :r·eform \X:l t 1lc zrJuncls t at it vrao an 

essential element of econom:i.c development. In part A of lts resoh,tion (VII), 

the General Assembly recalled the belief it .had exm:essed in its reso1Gtion 521+ 

that rapid improvements in existing agrari.an strvci.J.ces c:~;~·r' land terw:t·c· :::,ys·;~ems :i.E 

many under-developed countries required large-scale :tinanr~ial outl'".:/s, ar1d iu 

part B it considered that the defective agrarian structure in several geogn;,.phiccc: 

areas of the world was among the factors preventinc; economic development. Th~ 

General Assembly had also requested Member States to give '.t'3 decj_stons \:ljf2 "·'~-ue 

possible publicity, in order to ensure that the policy recomm.endations of the 

United Nations should be widely known r:J.nd understood. The pro~resf; bei.ng mac.iE· 

was slow, and there was reason to think that the unanimit,y whi.ch baa been J."'ti:hed 

in the Assembly did not yet exist in the internnt "-·!Y''3.1 community an(\ the,L c'pinions 

were still divided. 

At the World Conference of Agriculturel and Forestry Vlo:r.kerrs ccn.:J Harking 

Peasants organized in Vienna in October 1953 by the T:>:'IC.de Un].ons Internationa}. 

of Agricultural and Forestry Harkers) a trades depctrtmml{: cf the \-JF'I'U_, it :r,, 

become apparent hovr general was the pressure for land reform. 'I'J:t<.:: ':'CsJf:e:rance; 

which had been attended by 159 delegates and 46 observer:_; :E'rcrL count;:·J.es, ha(\ 

declared that land reform was a measure of social j: .. :st:ice und Lad called fo;:' the 

J •• 

application of democratic agrarian prograr:::x;s which v;ou·i ·1 LlmJ.: t.l1E: f:JT-:;a of 

agricultural holdings and ensure the distribution of tl1e estated of JJ;,.rge landm-n:'JT'r: 

r ~:r· j;·· l ::n" 1 cr>rr:J:'c. .: j ,_: i nc1 the state among agr:i.cultured 'lvorkers ex,rJ the 

smallholders with insufficient land without cost to the latter. The,:; conference 

had also called for the restitution cf land occupied by settlers to -:~he 5.ndigenow~; 

inhabitants. With regard to the 1.mder-develcped cotmtrjes snd colonial terr:i .. tories 

the Third World Trade Union Congress of the viorld Yederatlo:a of '~'rs.de Un:i.om;, ;_,, 

October 1953, had strongly recommended land r-eforms ·i D\T';-1 vaGt programmes of 

agricultural development. The Congress had recognize~ the interactio~ of 

agricultural and industrial producti.on and concluded that s1.1'Ch pror;rarrtr1es ~:"':cc-•;;_1 0, oe 

regarded as an essentie.l condition for a:cly real improvement ~~n the position c;J' 

non-agricultural labour i.n the under-developed countries. 



E/Ac.6/SR.l54 
English 
Page 12 

In her Federation's view the Council should deal more actively with the 

question by carrying out an objective but critical appraisal of land reform 

programmes in progress, especially in under-developed countries, and by giving 

advice and help to Governments ready to undertake such reforms. The report before 

the Committee (E/2526) was useful in that it described the various measures taken 

by Governments and revealed the vast gaps which had to be filled. It would have 

been even more useful if it had explained what practical action had been taken to 

give effect to the various principles of land reform stated in the Council's and 

in the Assembly's resolutions. Moreover, the report underestimated the 

disequilibrium of the agricultural economy in many under-developed countries and 

Non-Self-Governing Territories, where a large proportion of the land was held 

by relatively few owners. Nevertheless, the report recognized on page 286 that 

many countries, on their own admission, had done nothing to create opportunities 

for acquiring ownership, whether through the redistribution of land or by other 

methods, although the types of agrarian structure described in their replies 

suggested that such reforms would be advantaguous to tenant-farmers, share-cro~pers 

and agricultural labourers. Furthermore, the conclusions in the report did not 

lay sufficient stress on the effects of the existence of large estates, especially 

those owned by foreign companies, or in the case of Non-Self-Governing Territories, 

by settlers from the metropolitan State, as a result of which indigenous peoples 

were forced to share residual lands usually inadequate in quality and extent. 

Generally speaking, the land question in Africa was not dealt with adequately 

or realistically. The report confined itself to stating that, in the African 

territories, the Administering Powers did not consider it desirable to institute 

individual ownership and completely disregarded the long-term consequences of the 

monopolization of rich and fertile land by small groups of settlers. Furthermore, 

it did not deal adequately with the adverse influence on national agricultural 

production and industrialization of monoculture in the countries where it prevailed 

and where it was controlled by foreign financial interests. The essential 

feature of land reform was obviously the redistribution of land. It therefore 

gave rise to different problems depending on whether in the country concerned the 

large estates were held by nationals or by foreigners, as was the case in Central 

and South America, South East Asia and Africa. In turn countries embarked upon 



E/AC.6/SR.l54 
English 
Page 13 

land reform programmes faced different reaetions abroad. Mexico had not been 

subject to external objection to its land reform programme which affected large 

holdings of its own citizens while Guatemala had been sharply attacked for its 

programme which was nonetheless predicated upon nationalization only of 

uncultivated lands with compensation to former owners to the full extent of their 

declared evaluation for tax purposes. Future studies should analyse those aspects 

of the question in greater detail, and would be more useful if they expressed the 

area of land distributed as a proportion of the total area of cultivated land, 

and indicated the number of beneficiaries in relation to the total agricultural 

population. They should also indicate whether the average areas allocated were 

sufficient to ensure decent living conditions. 

The joint draft resolution submitted by India and Egypt (E/AC.6/L.94) was an 

important contribution to the study of the question, but the WFTU suggested that 

the words "and the extent to which structural changes in the economy have ensued 

from land reform" should be added at the end of paragraph 3 (a) of the operative 

part. It should also specify that future studies should indicate the extent to 

which land reform had led to a diversification of agricultural production and 

influenced the living and employment conditions of both urban and rural workers. 

Her Federation considered that, to achieve the objectives of General Assembly 

resolution 625 (VII) the Council might consider the publication by the United 

Nations of simple and popular brochures relating to land reform, following the 

method which had been used effectively in connexion with United Nations work 

relating to the status of women, human rights and technical assistance. Such 

publications could help link the parallel though separate struggles of peasants 

and agricultural and industrial workers throughout the world with that of the 

United Nations for the achievement of both land reform and basic industrial 

development. 

The WFTU was confident that the Council would take further steps to promote 

land reform and to stimulate industrial development, which would so greatly enhance 

the well-being of the peoples of the world. 



.4. -'£, (, ~~ 'c~·l" r=-~4· "-'I'' v • ~I,;_, < 1._., 
uh 

~-·.:~ po~ct 

Yrr. • · · c ~} •• T I (Belgiurr.) congratulated the Secretary-General on the 

lt:,Td reform (Et2526) and the report on the rural :progress through 

Belgium holdings of one to ten hectares accounted 

for 8:::~ :;er c""nt of all holdings ancl for 46 ::per cent of all agricultural land. 

}{cJ.dings of over fifty hectares accounted for 8. 9 :per cent and those of 100 

hectares and over for no more than 2 per cent of all agricultural land. 

In . tbose c ircurr£Jtances, land reform, if it were . desirable, should be directed 

·;~,e.inly tcwards ccnsolidatir;g frag:n:ented holdings and consolidating rural :properties; 

the.., d.er.sj ty of the population ' ... -as the principal obstacle to the consolidation of 

'l'he productivity of Belgian agriculture ranked very high in Western Europe 

tho world. In orrler to rraintain it, the competent authorities had enacted 

'> slation ar:d l:<'Jg1.ilations •,rhich they revised as the situation den:a.nded. The 

::e. n _r:,;.J..rpcue of those proviEd ons vas to safe guard the se curl ty of te:aure of the 

,.,llttvt'ltor, to rr.aintain fe.:rr:' ~en"ts at a fair level, to promote consolidation, to 

-,rcmo~;(• ::J.g:r·1.Cl.tJtural credit at reascr.t0.ble interest rates, to grant tax relief to 

srr.811 hc1de::r.··s,~ to enem.rre.ge tbe establishment and development of agricultural 

(: .. )'" o:r:era t:lxes ·' to deve lo:p ret:learch and publicity services, to promote the 

: ,-l!.:t-bl:sl::JrEmt c·f rural inductri.es and crafts and, generally, to improve the 

:;r-;;::,nomic and. :Jocial ccDdi tio::s ~nd. legal status of agricultural workers. He 

:ts:~trred t~he EcoDJ\]JL},:~ CornmitteA of tJs full co-operaticn. 

Ir: r_;or:.nex;.:.L -;;::._ th Ir:.eaGures to promote land reform at the international level, 

ne satd tL::.;,·f;, f'rc!Il the tec1mica1 :;:;oi.nt of view, the ccmpetent authorities should 

·':ak.E< J.nto acc;o,;;nt the edc~cs:Lim1 ,~:r farn:ers, that from the social point of view 

:3l'Jcl.l1d. , ::.:·cern th0n::selve:s with the living condition~ of agricultural workers, 

of vLf;>l they shovld promote the establishment 

_cu.itv:c.:tl. cc-l.p3rat1vef,, agricultural credit, the acquisition of small 

en cf fragmented hold :i:ngs and the protection of 

The ·':oc\r~\c:al ass:: c:;tance :provi.ded by the United Natio:as 

'1: tur:::: CiiB<w.l.zatim: ;ms a form of' international action for 

u1ti.11"al prugn: sG, i;he Jmproven:.ent of the li v1 ng t-. ondi ti ons of farmers and 

Belgium had 



E/AC.6/SR.l54 
English 
Page 15 

participated in that action and would continue to do so. His delegation 

considered that any plan for introducing land reform in a given country should 

first and foremost be based on local circUI!1Stances and allow for practical 

obstacles. Any general plan for land reform could therefore be usefully 

supplemented by a study of local conditions; the need for such studies was 

apparent from a perusal of the Secretary-General's reports and was stressed in 

the relevant resolutions of the Council and the General Assembly. 'Ihe Belgian 

delegation would continue to support any measures which the Economic and Social 

Council might recommend for promoting the development of agriculture and higher 

living standards for agricultural populations. 

Mr. PETEERBRIDGE (Australia) said that in many under-developed countrieE 

the system of land tenure was responsible for social and political instability. 

The Australian delegation was aware of the part that might be played by land reform 

in promoting social stability and economic progress, and supported the measure8 

proposed by the United Nations and the specialized agencies. Land reform not 

only affected the system of land tenure but involved other issues such as the 

employment of workers in industry, the improvement of techniques, credit and so on. 

That seemed to be the sense in which the United Nations and organs such as the 

Rconomic and Social Council, the Food and Agriculture Organization, the 

International Labour Organisation and UNESCO understood land reform; different 

countries interpreted the term differently. Actually, Governments had the 

responsibility of deciding on a reform and laying down policy. International 

action would stimulate discussion of the problem at the local level and would give 

an idea of the efforts to be made a~d tho programrnec to b8 Rdopt~n. ~e re~orts 

on progress in lapd reform (E/2526) and on rural progress through co-operatives 

(E/2524) contained very useful information. He was glad to note from the 

Governments' replies to the questionnaire that i~ the last three years decisive 

progress had been made in that field. The report also mentioned certain factors 

restricting land reform which served to illustrate the legal, technical, social, 

political and other problems of which the United Nations had always been aware in 

studying that question. Owing to those factors land reform was inevitably a slow 



'':/AC .6/SR.l54 
t::nelish 
Pe.ge 16 

t:roeess, and present endeavours could only bear fruit in the future. The report 

c-, laiJ.r;_ rsfo:rm recogniz6;l that in Australia, as in countries like the Unl ted States 

of America, Canada and New Zealand, the ownership of land was widely distributed 

and. the :n:eans for acquiring land were satisfactory. The State aided farmers 

either indirectly by n:.eans of credit facilities or directly through grants designed 

to :rr.:aintain farm incomes or to permit improvements in cultivation. There was 

D') occasion for land reform in Australia and hence its international role in that 

field vras limited. The Australian delegation was, however, ready to supply the 

United Kations, the specialized agencies and Member States with all information 

~·rhidl :rr:.5ght be of use to them. Australian agriculture was very advanced both 

:ln organization and technique, but it had to solve certain problems such as that 

•Jf higher production if it was to keep pace with population increases and e:xport 

rJeeds. 

Ee congratulated the Secretary-~neral on the studies carried out. He 

,_ :1c,ssted that the two reports should 'be supplemented by a summary of the work of 

t:t.e United Nations and the s:pecialized agencies in the field of land reform, 

Including information o:wt teebnical assistance. Such a summary would show both 

the steps taken by Gover~~nts and the work done by the United Nations and the 

s:pecialJzed agencies. 

Mr. L'EGATIE (France) cone:,:rratulated the Secretary-General on the two 

rsports on the question of land reform (E/2')26, E/2524). 

In his report on the progress of land reform (E/2526) the Secretary-General 

h~j.d. gointed out that ref'crrr.s in the syf.1tem of land tenure were not of the same 

urgency eve::·;r;.rhere. 'Hithout :prejudging the individual merits of the several 

refo:::-ms It could. ~oe said that they were not, as was sometimes claimed, a sort of 

Cr. tbs other hand, the report rightly stressed the economic advantages that 

e oul.d l'eS'll t from a better adaptation of the system of land tenure to the 

conditions of modern life. In that connexion many replies to the questionnaire 

had gone beyond the strict limits of the subject and described the progress 

<',ttained by "better land utilization. The French delegation was happy to note 



. / ··.~ t '.:~ ) 

£~nglla:n 

Page 17 

that fact for the information was valuable to legislators in all countries 

interested in land questions. In fact while the aim of the Secretariat report 

was to contribute to solving the problem of economie development in under

developed countries, it also contained information of great value for the 

so-called industrialized countries, particularly France. Cn that point he 

was in full agreement with the representative of Belgium. 

The Secretariat report had not, however, glossed over the difficulties 

hampering changes in systems of land tenure. Experience had everywhere shown 

that it was difficult to make any change in the tenure of real property in general 

and of land in particular. ~he extreme caution of legislatures in that field 

might appear discouraging but in most cases was surely justified. In son:e 

countries including France, the public had to be prepared a long time in advance 

and the Goveraffient had to wait patiently for the favourable moment at which to 

apply fruitful reforms. He noted with satisfaction that the Secretariat report 

took that lesson of experience into account. Personal and sentimental attachment 

to the land should also be allowed for. In its reply to the questionnaire, the 

U~ited Kingdom Government had touched on that point in dealing with Africa (E/2526, 

pages 33 and 34), but what was involved there seemed to be an attachment which was 

found in e-rery part of the world. 

Still, as against the sentimental, social and political obstacles which might 

prevent Governments from carrying out reforms, one had to consider tke harm caused 

by defective utilization of the land as particularly in poor countries. 

Accordingly, he noted with satisfaction in the Secretariat report that great 

progress had been made both in promoting the acquisition of ownership by landless 

farmA-rA A.nn in in~-rAA.Aing the yjAJd of soils for the benefit of their cultivators. 

He was happy to see that those reforms were being carried out by conventional 

means which, while not enjoying the wide publicity a~corded to certain other 

methods, were also not so ruthless. 

Despite the optimistic conclusions of the Secretariat report, the French 

delegation considered that an immense task still lay ahead. Without seeking 

by its recommendations and suggestions to solve the problems ~oLfroLt1ng 

Governments, the Cour.cil eould at least, by continued attention to land reform, 

by studies called for and by exchange of views, enlighten Governments and 

encourage them to act. 



E/AC.6/SR.l54 
English 
Page 18 

The report on rural progress through co-operative (E/2524) offered striking 

pr.oof of th~ advantages of that method without suggesting that it was in any 

sense a panacea. In particular, that report explained why co-operation which 

had yielded very remarkable results in son1e industrialized countries had not been 

equally successful in others. In fact, chapter 13, dealing with basic questions 

of policy on co-operative associations, showed that capital was needed for the 

establishment of a co-operative and trained staff for its operation. In m0st 

industrialized countries the establishment of producer and consumer co-operatives 

had been easy because the members had a minimUll1 of savings and plenty of technical 

experience. That, unhappily, was not the case in some under-developed countries 

where co-operation would be of immense value and where Governments would like to 

promote it. He fully appreciated the difficulties confronting under-developed 

countries in that field. To overcome them in the overseas territories of the 

French Union French citizens had often been called upon to aid the indigenous 

population in managing their co-operatives and to request the public services 

to provide tha initial capital, in other··words, the funds necessary for 

construction of plant and starting operations. 

In France, co-operative for the production, processing, preserving and 

marketing of agricultural products had improved the. quality as well as the 

presentation of those products. They had contributed to the financing and 

processing of crops. They had increased the productivity of the farmer and 

lowered the cost of foodstuffs. There existed in France many co-operatives 

supplying farmers vith fertilizers, seeds and implements and dealing with the 

first processing of crops. For some years there had been a growth of such 

co-operatives with a view to collective use of heavy modern agricultural 

machinery and new techniques for higher productivity in agriculture. 

In the overseas territories of the French Union, numerous co-operatives, 

modelled on those of France, had been set up and had restored to cultivation 

much abandoned land. Yields had been very greatly increased and part of that 

progress was ~ndisputable due to the advantages of co-operative action. However, 

that development of co-operatives in France and in the French Union would not have 

been so successful if it had not been promoted by a policy of agricultural credit, 



EjAC .6jSR.l54 
English 
Page 19 

in effect, financial assistance from the State. At the moment, French farmers 

would like co-operative action to offer more help in the marketing of agricultural 

products; that amounted to asking for co-operative action to solve at the national 

level the problems which the Council was studying at the international level under 

items 3 (a) and 3 (b) of its agenda. That comparison was enough to show that 

co-operative action could only offer a partial contribution to the solution of 

the problem before it. 

Even for that partial contribution, however, a big organizational effort 

was necessary. In fact to ask for co-operative action in marketing implied an 

attempt to adapt it to tasks which were traditionally beyond its scope, namely 

collective production and supply. Now, to fulfil that role co-operatives should 

possess extensive storage facilities i• order to lessen the consequences of 

temporary overproduction and big resources to keep the machinery of production 

.working in the event or poor harvests. Lastly, they should be able to control 

the distribution of products in order to limit the margin between producer and 

consumer prices. 

Co-operatives set up expressly to improve the marketing of certain produce, 

particularly produce susceptible to climatic changes, had been extremely 

successful. Yet, despite the significant assistance it could give, co-operative 

action in itself was not enough to solve the problem of regulating the marketing 

of agricultural products in countries such as France. Co-operative action could 

only offer a partial solution because it was limited in range. 

In the particular instance, those limits were not due to any lack of qualified 

personnel or capital. They were rather to be ascribed to the fact that 

individuals were often reluctant to resort to co-operative action as a means of 

overcoming certain difficulties. Co-operative action in the economic field 

corresponded to democratic action in the political field. Both were excellent 

weapons of defence and support for their adherents, but both were also so bound 

up with principle that they failed to take full advantage of favourable situations. 

Indeed, the Secretary-General had stressed that deep-rooted similarity between 

co-operative and democratic effort in chapter 2 of his report (E/2524, page 11). 

It was therefore clear that, on a certain commercial level, a co-operative 

association was at a disadvantage when competing with similar private 

undertakings • 



EjAC .6jSR.l54 
English 
Page 20 

Nevertheless, as the Secretary-General said in the introduction to his report, 

vast possibilities were open to co-operative associations both in the well-

endowed and in the less-developed countries. Very properly, the report stressed 

the voluntary nature of membership, and equality in the treatment of members, 

which, in the eyes of the French delegation, were the basic characteristics of 

the co-operative movement. 

In conclusion, he said the Secretary-General's two reports showed that the 

specialized agencies and the Expanded Programme of Technical Assistance had a 

very useful function to perform in assisting Governments to carry out land reforms 

and in promoting co-operatives. The French delegation hoped to see substantial 

and sustained results from that international contribution to the economic 

development of the under-developed countries. 

He proposed to speak at a later stage on the joint draft resolution submitted 

by Egypt and India (E/AC.6jL.94). 

Mr. McDOUGALL (Food and Agriculture Organization) recalled that his 

organization had played an important part in the preparation of ~he two reports 

(E/2526 and E/2524) before the Committee. 

In 1951, the FAO Conference had taken note of resolution 370 (XIII) of the 

Economic and Social Council and had decided to implement the recommendations 

contained therein. Stressing how necessary it was to eliminate the defects in 

various existing agrarian structures and to promote the rational utilization of 

natural resources, it had invited its seventy-one member States to examine their 

agrarian structures in the light of the ECOSOC resolution and to further ~opular 

understanding of rural betterment. Furthermore, it had agreed that the question 

of land reform could not be isolated from the other ~spects of social and economic 

life and indeed had to be considered as part and parcel of the general programme 

of economic development. Finally, while recognizing that FAO might be of 

assistance to member States in earrying out their land reform programmes, the 

Conference had expressed the opinion that, in the final analysis, basis measures 

had to be taken by the Governments themselves as part of their national progra.Ill.liSs. 



-c-'f /' l~' i: fer ..., r::.h 
J..JjJ.;,, ,~u, L).!_'\,)...Lj, 

Engl~sh 

Page 2J. 

Consequently, the 1951 Co!\ference had adopted a resolution urging th0 

Governments of member States to take imnediate steps to implement Economic an(l 

Social Council resolution 370 (XIII), and requestlng the FAO to assemhle 2nforn:a c,~cn 

on land tenure and allied subjects wlth a vlew to analysil"'.g and making it avane.ble 

to interested member Governments; to organize, with other entitieu of the Unite·i 

Nations, such arrangements as might be useful to enable each united Nations age:c :y 

to rr.ake its fullest contribution to implementing the ECOSCC resolution; to :re v·i·"" 

the programme of work of FAO with a view to ensuring a high priority to problerrs 

of reform of agrarian structures; and to assist GovernmHnts, by provision o~ 

technical assistance on progran:mes designed to promote desl.rable land r·ef cr.ms. 

His organization had already published several technical monographs, prepared 

pursuant to those decisions. 

At its seventh session, held in Rome at the end of 1953, the FAO Confer:mce 

had adopted two resolutions, ol'l.e specifically inviting merrt"ber Governrrent~J 

interested in improving their agrarian structures to take full advantage of tLs 

international help available through FAO, and the other dealing with the 

establishment in Latin America of a centro of agrarian stud1es. 

The question of land reform raised several. problems of a poli tico.i 1.a.1;u.:re, 

among them that of the relative merits of ownership a:r.d tenancy. His c_,rgan1zat ~or.: 

took the view that international agencies were not in a posi t:Lon to express 

opinions on that subject, and that the problem 1m.s one to te d(~alt, vri th i' each 

country by the Government. Gn the other hand, help and advice from internat:ic;jJ.,:.I 

agencies might be very valuable in !I'.atters of policy and technical problems ouch 

as agricultural settlement and security of tenure, the living and working 

conditions of paid agricultural workers, the crea.ti.on of rural industries, the 

establishment of profitable agricultural holdings, farm credjt and the reduction 

of indebtedness, encouragement to co- o:perati ve organizations, maintenance of 

machinery, taxation :policy and so forth. 

The General Assembly and the Council should continue to stress hm; importa;..: 

it was to eliminate the defects in the various existing agrarian structures. T'o 

would, however, serve little useful purpose to adopt general rec ormnenda t::. ons en 

the subject, in view of the diversity of the problems presented oy the agrarian 



EjAC .6jSR.l54 
English 
Page 22 

structures in di~~erent countries. The time had there~ore •ome ~or Governments 

to take concrete action on the domestic level. International bodies should 

concentrate on certain practical questions instead o~ indulging merely in general 

declarations. 

In the opinion o~ FAO, any action for improving a particular system of land 

tenure had to take the question of yield into account. It was only by increasing 

the yield from the land and the productivity of the cultivator that countries 

could build up the social, medical and educational services which the population 

so greatly needed. For that reason it was necessary to regard measures of land 

re~orm as a component part o~ the general economic development plans. 

As far as studies and exchanges of ir~ormation were concerned, FAO would 

pursue the task it had undertaken, within the limits of its financial resources. 

He was gratified to note that under Council resolution 370 (XIII) the Secretary

General was to present periodically,at least once every three years, a report on 

the progress achieved in land reform. 

Moreover, FAO was in favour of regional conferencee and seminars. One such 

seminar had already been organized under the auspices of FAO in Brazil and had 

published a report which merited consideration by Governments interested in the 

question of land reform. Similar seminars would shortly be organized in the 

Middle East and the Far East. 

Despite the recommendations of the General Assembly, the FAO Conference and 

the Economic and Social Council, FAO had only received very few requests ~or 

technical assistance in the matter o~ land re~orm. Moreover, in view o~ the 

somewhat low prioritycwhich most of the Governments concerned had accorded to 

land reform, those requests were unlikely to be :met. While such a lack of 

haste could be explained on political grounds, the Governments could nevertheless 

take other measures which would present no such difficulty. In particular, many 

under-developed countries would be well-advised to introduce a more accurate system 

of land registration. The records would be very useful not o~ly for purposes of 

land re~orm, but also in ensuring a more equitable burden o~ taxation. The 

Committee might therefore consider the possibility of including in its resolution 

a recommendation concerning the question o~ technical assistance and land 

registration. 



EjAc.6jSR.l54 
English 
Page 23 

The report on rural progress through co-operatives (E/2524) revealed both 

the .advantages and the limitations of free co-operative associations and 

adequately answered the purpose which the Council had set itself. 

In 1953, the FAO Conference had recommended that FAO should intensify its 

work relating to co-operatives and give closer attention to co-operative action 

in the utilization of land, water and machinery. 

appear soon. 

A progress report by FAO would 

The meeting rose at 5.40 p.m. 




